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The Greenbank Historic Area, as amended, consists of two distinct areas separated by
a modern intrusion. The area originally nominated includes the remmants of the mill
and the mill race, the mill owner's stone dwelling built in 1790's, and sundry out-~
buildings. The newly added parcel includes the mid-nineteenth~century mill owner's
house. This property sits on a hill overlooking Greenbank Road, on the far side of
the Newport Gap Pike. From this vantage the mill owner could survey most of the mill
area, the latter having expanded greatly in the fifty years since the first home
associated with the milling complex was built. The three structures named above are
all that remains of this prominent milling complex.

The mill structure stands on its original foundation. Much of the wooden super-
structure was replaced after a recent fire. Some of the original mill machinery

which was housed in the foundation escaped the fire and is still intact. Even though
the frame structure has been largely rebuilt, it is a faithful restoration of the 1790
mill. A stone wing, built in 1812, has been removed due to its deteriorated condition.

The mill building today measures 50' by 39' and stands two-and-a~half stories high.

A small office wing, one story hich with a loft, has been added on the south side. A
shed-roofed porch at the northeast corner has collapsed within the past few years.

The roof is covered with wood shingles; the walls are sheathed in clapboard and German
siding. A simple box cornice surrounds the structure.

Behind the mill on the same side of Greenbank Road stands the Robert Philips House, a
stone structure with a date stone marked "1783". The house is two~and—-a-half stories
high with a gable roof pierced by two segmentally-arched dormers on the facade and
two gable-roofed dormers on the rear. Two chimmeys break the peak of the roof. The
main structure has a five-bay facade and a double-pile plan. On the south end of
the facade, the main door opens into a stair hall; on the north end, another entry
opens into a dining room. A box cornice ties together the facade, as does the
Victorian porch with its turned posts and saw-toothed detailing. Some interior de-
tailing survives; however, it largely reflects several generations of change and
occupation.

Nearby stands a nineteenth-century bank barn with a stone foundation, as well as
several other nineteenth and twentieth-century sheds.

The mid-nineteenth-century mill owner's house, the W. G. Philips House, which is
located a short distance down Greenbank Road from the mill, is a frame structure with
clapboard siding and pilasters at each corner. The front section has a three-bay
facade and is two stories high. Directly behind this is a three-~story section of
almost equal length. Each section is one room deep. A hip roof is found on the
three-story section, while the roof of the two-story section slopes up from three
sides; the cornice on each section is bracketed. The windows contain four-over-four
sash on the first floor and two-over-two sash on the second floor. All of the windows
are shuttered. The porch has been replaced; however, the door surround with its
sidelights and transom are still intact. Recent changes to the exterior include a
modern wing found on one side and a wooden fire escape added to the rear. The
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Greenbank Mill, on Red Clay Creek, has sheltered varied enterprises durings its long
history. Depending on the market, the mills here produced flour, woolen products, or
carriage parts.

"Southern Land" on Red Clay Creek, was patented to John Anderson (alias Stalcop) in
October 1677. Thomas Bird later acquired part of the tract, and it was from his son,
Empson, that Robert Philips bought the property in 1773. Until 1790, Philips operated
the o0ld log mill that had stood on the property for many years. When this structure
became inadequate, he built the present frame structure nearby.

Greenbank won a place in the history of American manufacturing when Oliver Evans, a
native of nearby Newport, installed his automatic mill machinery in the 1790 building.
The work of this Delaware inventor revolutionized milling in America. An anecdote
frequently told about Greenbank relates that Evans invited several millers to study
his machinery in operation. They arrived to find the mill running unattended; Evans
was making hay in the adjoining field. The millers were impressed but taken aback;
one of them called the machinery "a set of rattle traps."

By the second decate of the nineteenth century, grain milling shifted almost entirely
to the larger mills on the banks of the Brandywine, where seagoing ships would load
directly from the mills. The Philips family then converted the Greenbank property

to take advantage of another expanding market. Deteriorating relations with Britain
had closed off the supply of English woolen goods; this condition offered American
woolen products a protected market.

The Philips' developed a flock of Merino sheep which was established by February
1811 when they advertised for a shepherd. The boom in wool created a shortage of
skilled workmen so in January 1811, the Delaware legislature passed a law exempting
workmen in water-powered mills fashioning woolen yard, woolen cloth and certain
other products, from "militia fines and forfeitures." During the same period, new
facilities became necessary; a stone mill building was erected next to the old mill
in 1812, and named "Madison Factory" in honor of the President.

The end of the woolen boom coincided with the signing of a peace with Britain.
British goods appeared on the American market once again, and the Philips family
began to liquidate its investments in wool; they continued in the business until
1819, when the property was seized by the sheriff.
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interior has been extensively remodelled to allow for the creation of two apartments
on the second floor and complete living quarters for the owner on the first floor.

The setting of the nineteenth-century miller's house has no doubt changed very
little, but its vista certainly has been altered. Newport Gap Pike is a busy roadway.
On the knoll between it and the mill and older miller's house is a modern church.

In the area below, where once were other mill buildings, is now a park and open
space. The mill and stone miller's house have witnessed similar changes. Above

them on the hill are two large modern structures which are blocked by the foliage.
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northeasterly with the center of the run of the creek until it intersects the
southwest right-of-way of the Wilmington and Western Railroad and then with
this right-of-way northwesterly until it intersects the west side of the mill
race for the Greenbank Mill and then on an imaginary line westerly until it
intersects the eastern right-of-way for the drive of the Brandywine Springs
Nursing and Convalescent Home and then with the aforesaid right-of-way as it
curves around until it meets Greenbank Road and then with the northern
right-of-way of Greenbank Road until it intersects the center of the main run
of Red Clay Creek and point of beginning.

Newly nominated area: The bounded area begins at the center of the drive on Newport
and Gap Pike and follows the stone wall on the northeast and southeast sides

of the property until it reaches the center of the drive on Greenbank Road

and then follows the center of the drive in a northwesterly direction

forming an arc ten feet from the rear of the house at its nearest point until

it intersects the center of the drive from Newport and Gap Pike. The northern

building at the rear of the property, where it protrudes into the bounded area,
is an intrusion.
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By 1830, John C. Philips, nephew of Robert, had bought the property and satisfied
his uncle's creditors. Under John's sons, William G. and Isaac D. Philips, Greenbank
entered its third period. In 1852, they undertook the manufacture of wheel spokes
and wood bentware. The company of William G. Philips and Brother advertised
carriage parts, wheels, and wooden forks. Following the Civil War, Wilmington be-
came a carriage manufacturing center, and the Philips Company rode the crest of a
new tide; the company displayed a line of wood products at the Industrial Fair of
1874 in Wilmington. This venture ended much as the woolen business had. The
sheriff closed the factory in 1879 because of a debt that amounted to fifteen or
twenty thousand dollars. Isaac D. Philips who had bought out his brother in 1876,
was left with a ruined business to rebuilt.

Philips continued to operate the gristmill at Greenbank as a small volume custom
mill, but after his death it passed out of the family. As a custom mill, Greenbank
continued in business until a few years ago when it became the property of Historic
Red Clay Valley, Inc. It was awaiting restoration when vandals set fire to it,
causing heavy damage that has largely been repaired.

Near the mill is one of the miller's houses associated with the Greenbank Complex.
This stone structure, typical of others of its period, was built in the latter
eighteenth century by Robert Philips. The Philips family owned and operated the
milling complex throughout the majority of the nineteenth century. About the
middle of the century, another member of the family built the other miller's house
associated with the complex. Known as the W. G. Philips House, it is a frame
structure in the Italianate style and is located a short distance from the mill
on a rise of land.

The two miller's houses, the mill and the remnants of the race, are all that remain
of a once prosperous milling complex which was located on both sides of Greenbank
Road to the south of Red Clay Creek. A church set on the rise
between them is the only modern intrusion into the area. However, lack of clear
evidence as to the extent of the area has curtailed the nominated area to only the
abovementioned structures. The restoration of the mill is proceeding under county
auspices. The two houses are in private ownership.

Justification for Amended boundary: The nominated areas are separate and distinct.
The previously nominated parcel included the mill and the eighteenth-century miller's
house, the Robert Philips House,,and several outbuildings. The additional area is
being nominated because it contains the nineteenth-century miller's house, the W. G.
Philips House. These are the only remaining vestiges of the milling complex. When
the property was first nominated, the nineteenth-century house was not recognized

as being a part of the complex.
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